
 

 

 

Call to Meeting 
March 25, 2025 

 
 
The next Regular Meeting of the Westchester Library System (WLS) is Tuesday, March 25, 2025, 
at 6:00 p.m. PLEASE NOTE: This meeting will take place at the WLS Headquarters, 570 Taxter 
Rd, Ste 400, Elmsford, NY 10523.   
 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting Agenda 
 
 

Minutes: February 25, 2025  

Finances 

Information Items 

 Information Item #1: Resolution to Authorize NYCLASS Account 

Action Items 

 Action Item #1: WLS System Annual Report to New York State for 2024 

President’s Report 

WLS Committee Reports  

Executive Director's Report 

PLDA Report – Erik Carlson, Director, Dobbs Ferry Public Library 

 

NEXT MEETING: The next Regular Meeting will be held on Tuesday, April 29, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. 



WESTCHESTER LIBRARY SYSTEM 

Trustee Meeting 

February 25, 2025 – Approval Pending 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Westchester Library System was called to order by Nishat Hydari at 

6:05 p.m.  

 

The quorum requirement was met with the following people in attendance: 

 

Board Members present: Anthony Amiano, Andrea Bober, Robert Cartolano, Nishat Hydari, Wes 

Iwanski, Karen Kelley, Maureen LeBlanc, Susan Morduch, David Mener, Barbara Tepper, Diane 

Tabakman, Karen Zevin 

 

Board Members absent: Alice Joselow, Julie Mills-Worthey, Patricia Phelan 

 

Also present from WLS were: Wilson Arana, Rob Caluori, Terry Kirchner, Pat Brigham, Kate 

Meyer 

 

Public Library Directors Association (PLDA) Representative: Erik Carlson, Director, Dobbs Ferry 

Public Library 

 

MINUTES 

 

The minutes of the January 28, 2025, Board Meeting were approved on a motion by Mr. Cartolano 

and seconded by Ms. Zevin. The motion passed unanimously. [Ms. Bober was not present for the 

vote.] 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 

Mr. Caluori presented the financial report making note of significant items.  He noted that member 

libraries have already paid their January 2025 invoices and that all 2024 past-due balances have been 

paid in full, which is reflected in the Accounts Receivable line on the Balance Sheet.  He also noted the 

surplus in Fringe Benefits, which was the result of health insurance premium increases being 

significantly lower than anticipated.  Payment registers for January 2025 were distributed. The 

financial reports for January 2025 were approved on a motion by Mr. Amiano and seconded by Ms. 

Tepper. The financial reports were accepted unanimously.  

 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT  

 

Ms. Hydari expressed gratitude to the staff of the Westchester Library System (WLS) for their 

dedication and hard work, emphasizing that their contributions are valued. Additionally, Ms. Hydari 

thanked fellow board members for their commitment to serving on the board, acknowledging that they 

have other choices for their time.  

 

Ms. Hydari noted that Neighbors Link has shared the slides from its  February 11, 2025, presentation 

and the Board should review them.  

 



Minutes—Pending Approval Page 2 February 25, 2025 
 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

Nominating & Board Education: Ms. Kelley, Chair, noted there are two upcoming Trustee Handbook 

Book Clubs: April 30, 2025, 5:00 PM-6:30 PM – Trustee Handbook Book Club – Board Development: 

Recruitment, Orientation, Education and Evaluation, and July 15, 2025, 5:00 PM-6:30 PM – Trustee 

Handbook Book Club: Recruiting & Retaining Quality Staff. All are encouraged to attend. 

 

 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 

A copy of the Executive Director’s Report was mailed in advance of the meeting. 

 

• Library Advocacy Day on February 5th, 2025, was a success, with over 30 people representing 

Westchester libraries in attendance. Dr. Kirchner noted that a new date for 2026 has been set 

for Tuesday, February 3rd. 

 

• The Neighbors Link workshop held on February 11th entitled An Immigration Update for 

Library Staff and Trustees was well received, although it could have been directed more 

towards libraries.  

 

• Mount Vernon Public Library’s 2023 Annual Report is almost complete, and their goal is to 

complete the 2024 Annual Report on time. 

 

• The System Annual Report will be ready for the Board to view at the March 2025 meeting. 

 

• Dr. Kirchner noted that he will be traveling to Washington, D.C. for Voices for Libraries and 

will be speaking to Republicans and Democrats regarding the effectiveness and worthy 

investment in libraries. 

 

PLDA LIASON’S REPORT  

 

Erik Carlson, PLDA Vice President and WLS Board Liaison, provided the PLDA Liaison’s Report 

covering the February PLDA Meeting: 

 

• Mr. Carlson discussed fines within the member libraries. The libraries have agreed to only 

handle fines for their own patrons / items and not interfere or conflict with one another. 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Having completed its agenda, the Board adjourned its meeting at 7:09 p.m. on a motion by Ms. 

Tabakman and seconded by Ms. Zevin that passed unanimously.  

 

Respectively submitted, 

 

 

Diane H. Tabakman 

Secretary 



WESTCHESTER LIBRARY SYSTEM 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH NOTES – FEBRUARY 2025 

REPORT NOTES 

All of the figures in the accompanying notes are approximate to the nearest $100 or 1% when practical. The figures in the 

financial statements are rounded to the nearest dollar and percentages are presented to two decimal places. 

This month’s report includes the following financial statements: 

• Balance Sheet 

• Statement of Revenues and Expenditures with Comparison to Budget 

• Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

Please note that while this report contains financial statements for the month-end of February 2025, the reports also contain 

year-end financial data for FY2024.  While the audit work is essentially complete, FY2024 figures are considered unaudited 

until the final audit report is presented to and approved by the WLS Board of Trustees. 

PAYMENTS OVER $50,000 

The WLS Purchasing Policy (Policy #13) requires that purchases exceeding $50,000 without prior budget approval be formally 

reported to the Board at the next regularly scheduled meeting. To meet and exceed the policy directive, all payments over 

$50,000 in February 2025 are listed below: 

• Amount: $125,304 

o Vendor: Equinox Open Library Initiative Inc. 

o Purpose: 2025 Evergreen ILS hosting and support 

• Amount: $88,667 

o Vendor: OCLC, Inc. 

o Purpose: Software and database subscriptions to support cataloging and inter-library loan 

• Amount: $78,266 

o Vendor: NYS Employees Health Insurance Program (NYSHIP) 

o Purpose: Employee health insurance for March 2025 

• Amount: $61,223 

o Vendor: Midwest Tape (Hoopla) 

o Purpose: January 2025 Patron Pay-Per-Use Digital Content 

  



BALANCE SHEET – FEBRUARY 2025 
The Balance Sheet shows comparative figures for the period from month-ending (ME) January 2025 through ME February 

2025. The key changes are losses in Operating Cash and Cash Equivalents and Accounts Receivable, which were offset by 

liability gains in Deferred Revenue, Unconditional Promises, and reduced Accounts Payable resulting in a 2.4% decrease in 

Net Assets. Details are discussed below. 

ASSETS: 

This section indicates the organization’s liquidity by showing what assets WLS holds in cash and what assets will be available 

in cash in the near future. The net result for the period is an overall decrease in assets driven primarily by an anticipated 

reduction in Operating Cash and Accounts Receivable. 

Operating Cash & Cash Equivalents (This shows the cash in WLS’s operating and payroll bank accounts and petty cash): WLS’s 

operating cash decreased by $325,800. With $497,000 in receipts, activity included $486,700 from member libraries for IT 

services and group purchases.  Notable expenditures aside from rent, payroll and benefits, Internet, and delivery to libraries 

included $125,300 to Equinox for 2025 hosting and support for the Evergreen ILS, $88,700 to OCLC for the 2025 subscription 

renewal for software that supports Cataloging and ILL operations, and $61,200 to Midwest Tape (Hoopla) for pay-per-use 

digital content for patrons in January 2025. 

Accounts Receivable (These are monies due to WLS from member libraries and outside organizations): This line decreased 

sharply by $436,000 primarily driven by member libraries paying invoices for member library technology fees and digital 

content. 

Unconditional Promises (These are promises to give money to WLS such as governmental aid): This line increased $362,000, 

the result of recording receivable revenues from NYS, Westchester County, and the federal E-Rate program. 

LIABILITIES: 

This section shows WLS’s near-term obligations. The net result for the period is an overall reduction in liabilities primarily 

driven by the recognition of Deferred Revenue. Details are discussed below: 

Deferred Revenue (Funds received which have not yet been earned): This figure decreased by $185,500, the result of 

recognizing $299,100 in revenues from 6-month and 3-month invoices to member libraries for IT services, group purchases 

for digital content, and movie licensing against the deferral of $43,600 from (1) revenue from the Palmer School program 

through Long Island University ($21,900) and (2) the recording of an overpayment from a member library which is being held 

at WLS at the request of the library to apply toward their next technology invoice($21,700). 

  



STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES 
COMPARISON TO BUDGET WITH PREVIOUS YEARS TO DATE –  
FEBRUARY 2025 

SUMMARY: 

Revenues were $32,300 less than expenses before depreciation for February but represent a positive variance from the 

budget which had called for a $47,300 deficit.   

REVENUES: 

Total revenue was $5,700 above the budget for February driven primarily by a surplus in Interest and smaller deficits in County 

Revenues with Restrictions, Other Revenues with Restrictions, and Other Revenues with Restrictions, which is discussed in 

detail below.  

State Revenues without Restrictions and State Revenues with Restrictions – These lines are flat against the budget.  This is 

based on WLS’s procedure to recognize NYS revenues in line with the budget until New York State releases official aid figures 

which will not be known until after NYS passes and figures are released by the Division of Library Development later in the 

spring. 

Other Revenues with Restrictions ended the month $4,300 short of the budget due to a shortfall in restricted contributions, 

the line fell short of its grants and fundraising goal by $5,800.  Other activity In this line includes revenue from New Rochelle 

BTOP (Broadband Technology Opportunity Program) and the Palmer School program through Long Island University. 

EXPENSES: 

Expenses before depreciation came in under budget by $9,400 but were $32,300 more than revenue for the month. Lines 

with significant variances and/or noteworthy activity are discussed below: 

Fringe Benefits is underspent by $9,100 for the month.  This was primarily driven by 2025 health insurance premiums being 

essentially flat against 2024 rates despite a 15% increase being accounted for in the budget. WLS should expect a significant 

surplus in this line for the year provided NYS does not adjust premium rates mid-year. 

Equipment – This line was $14,400 over budget for the month and $2,300 for the YTD.  The deficit in this line is driven by the 

computer replacement project.  As suggested by our auditors to maintain accurate monthly financial statements, the 

computer inventory, which normally occurs once annually, will now take place monthly until the conclusion of the project to 

ensure that the Board gains insight into the financial impact of the project.  Most of the computers for the project were 

purchased in 2024, placing them on the computer inventory, and will be installed in 2025. 

Library Materials expenses were more than the budget by $11,500 which was lower than the overage in January, which was 

$18,900.  The overage in February was driven by greater than anticipated patron activity in pay-per-use materials from Hoopla 

and Kanopy.  A majority of the overage in this area is related to Hoopla activity, which continues to increase.  While increased 

activity is a good problem to have, WLS is working with the vendor to identify potential cost savings. The finance committee 

will be discussing Library Materials expenses in more detail at a future meeting. 

Repairs and Maintenance – This line was over budget by $6,400 for February.  The overage was driven by two annual fees: 

(1) to Equinox for the Unique MessageBee service ($4,465) which enables text messages to be sent to patrons from the 

Evergreen ILS, and (2) to GoToMyPC ($3,960) which is used by the IT department.  The line is not expected to have a deficit 

next month or for the year but will be monitored closely. 



Month Ending Month Ending Month Ending Year Ending
02/28/2025 01/31/2025 02/28/2025 12/31/2024

Actual Actual Period difference Period variance Actual

Assets
Current Assets

Operating Cash & Cash Equivalents 1,538,472 1,864,278 (325,806) (17.47) % 1,885,918
Reserve Cash & Cash Equivalents 2,984,211 2,972,778 11,433 0.38 % 2,968,992
Unconditional Promises to Give 724,057 362,027 362,030 100.00 % 365,676
Accounts Receivable 265,126 699,872 (434,746) (62.11) % 98,558
Prepaid Expenses 1,065,573 1,050,037 15,535 1.47 % 728,543

Total Current Assets 6,577,439 6,948,992 (371,554) (5.34) % 6,047,687
Long-Term Assets

Property & Equipment 527,412 562,290 (34,877) (6.20) % 574,690
Right Of Use Asset 677,962 677,961 0 0.00 % 677,961

Total Long-Term Assets 1,205,374 1,240,251 (34,877) (2.81) % 1,252,651
Total Assets 7,782,813 8,189,243 (406,431) (4.96) % 7,300,338

Liabilities
Short-Term Liabilities

Accounts Payable 469,264 640,017 (170,753) (26.67) % 826,258
Deferred Revenue 918,977 1,104,480 (185,503) (16.79) % 584
Short-Term Right of Use 309,841 309,841 0 0.00 % 309,841

Total Short-Term Liabilities 1,698,082 2,054,338 (356,256) (17.34) % 1,136,683
Long-Term Liabilities

Long-Term Right of Use 506,113 506,113 0 0.00 % 506,113
Post-Retirement Benefits Payable 3,563,008 3,563,008 0 0.00 % 3,563,008

Total-Long-Term Liabilities 4,069,121 4,069,121 0 0.00 % 4,069,121
Total Liabilities 5,767,203 6,123,459 (356,256) (5.81) % 5,205,804

Net Assets
Net Assets, Beg Bal 2,065,785 2,094,534 (28,750) (1.37) % 1,809,705
Change in Net Assets (50,175) (28,750) (21,425) (74.52) % 284,829

Total Net Assets 2,015,610 2,065,784 (50,175) (2.42) % 2,094,534
Total Liabilities and Net Assets 7,782,813 8,189,243 (406,431) (4.96) % 7,300,338

Net Asset Detail
Working Capital 4,879,357 4,894,655 (15,298) (0.31) % 4,911,004
Long-Term Net Assets (2,863,747) (2,828,870) (34,877) (1.23) % (2,816,469)

Total Net Asset Detail 2,015,610 2,065,785 (50,175) (2.42) % 2,094,535

Westchester Library System
Balance Sheet

As of February 28, 2025



Month Ending Year To Date Year To Date Year To Date Year Ending
02/28/2025 02/28/2023 02/29/2024 02/28/2025 12/31/2025

Actual Budget Variance Actual Actual Actual Budget Variance Total Budget

Revenue
State Revenues without Restrictions 185,509 185,507 2 349,220 350,016 371,000 371,015 (15) 2,226,090
County Revenues without Restrictions 111,927 114,164 (2,237) 211,850 223,840 223,855 228,327 (4,472) 1,369,960
Federal Revenues without Restrictions 11,666 11,666 0 27,500 21,660 23,332 23,333 (1) 140,000
Member Technology Fees 229,062 232,084 (3,022) 447,486 450,733 460,528 464,167 (3,639) 2,785,000
Fund Raising & Contributions 101 0 101 117 0 209 0 209 0
Interest 20,107 5,416 14,691 20,553 29,649 28,280 10,833 17,447 65,000
Other Revenues without Restrictions 1,776 1,375 400 1,968 5,356 3,121 2,750 371 16,500
State Revenues with Restrictions 52,928 52,930 (1) 100,510 100,830 105,870 105,858 12 635,150
Other Revenues with Restrictions 8,564 12,816 (4,253) 11,742 2,668 11,259 25,634 (14,374) 153,800

Total Revenue 621,640 615,958 5,681 1,170,946 1,184,752 1,227,454 1,231,917 (4,462) 7,391,500
Expenditures

Salaries 179,673 202,741 23,070 355,668 365,533 380,575 405,484 24,908 2,432,900
Fringe Benefits 111,765 120,884 9,117 212,105 214,347 219,760 241,767 22,007 1,450,600
Professional Fees 983 4,333 3,351 6,800 6,549 6,407 8,667 2,260 52,000
Equipment 27,687 13,333 (14,354) 2,563 4,024 28,975 26,667 (2,308) 160,000
Library Materials 106,277 94,775 (11,502) 135,476 180,804 219,953 189,550 (30,404) 1,137,300
Rent and Utilities 31,616 34,825 3,209 55,452 62,041 63,406 69,650 6,245 417,900
Repairs and Maintenance 58,140 51,725 (6,415) 103,504 124,811 107,507 103,450 (4,057) 620,700
Supplies 700 3,334 2,633 473 596 5,553 6,666 1,113 40,000
Telephone and Internet 37,044 37,966 923 80,132 78,052 73,719 75,934 2,215 455,600
Printing and Postage 1,934 5,434 3,500 2,261 5,500 4,908 10,866 5,958 65,200
Bibliographic Fees 7,618 7,658 40 13,911 14,549 15,352 15,317 (35) 91,900
Professional Development 12,880 9,467 (3,414) 487 1,518 13,480 18,933 5,453 113,600
Travel 2,349 5,483 3,135 157 7,928 2,819 10,967 8,148 65,800
Memberships 744 2,333 1,589 12,973 7,487 2,355 4,667 2,311 28,000
Contractual Services 32,095 22,367 (9,728) 35,925 46,689 50,127 44,733 (5,393) 268,400
Delivery Service 37,716 40,417 2,701 72,831 73,445 71,609 80,833 9,224 485,000
Insurance 3,262 3,333 71 5,253 7,881 6,524 6,667 142 40,000
Miscellaneous 1,398 2,833 1,435 1,277 2,316 3,016 5,667 2,652 34,000

Total Expenditures 653,881 663,241 9,361 1,097,248 1,204,070 1,276,045 1,326,485 50,439 7,958,900
Total Net Revenue Before Depreciation (32,241) (47,283) 15,042 73,698 (19,318) (48,591) (94,568) 45,977 (567,400)
Non-Cash Activity

Depreciation 12,401 12,084 (317) 28,986 30,518 24,801 24,166 (635) 145,000
Unrealized Gain/Loss on Investments 5,533 0 (5,533) 1,195 5,288 5,533 0 (5,533) 0

Total Non-Cash Activity 17,934 12,084 (5,850) 30,181 35,806 30,334 24,166 (6,168) 145,000
Total Net Revenue (50,175) (59,367) 9,192 43,517 (55,124) (78,925) (118,734) 39,809 (712,400)

Westchester Library System
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

Comparison to Budget with Previous Years To Date
As of February 28, 2025



Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 
As of February 28, 2025 

 

Code Asset Title Asset Description 

Temporarily  
Restricted Net 

Assets 
December 31, 

2024 

2025 
Revenue 

2025 
Expenses 

Temporarily  
Restricted 
Net Assets 

February 28, 
2025 

34025 Central Library 
Library materials, services & 
training 

$0 $66,500 $30,485 $36,015 

40400 
BTOP - New 
Rochelle 

Broadband Technology 
Opportunity Program at New 
Rochelle Public Library 

$0 $3,150 $3,000 $150 

70102 
TASC - Private 
contributions 

Private monies for adult literacy 
programs 

$599 $0 $130 $469 

70127 
Homebound 
Delivery (FH) 

Support for delivery to 
homebound patrons 

$13,132 $0 $0 $13,132 

70130 
RWT 2025 
(ConEd) 

2025 Support for Reconnect w/ 
Tech. 

$7,500 $0 $562 $6,938 

80008 
Outreach 
Fundraising 

Fundraising to support 
outreach activities (continuous) 

$13,107 $809 $0 $13,916 

  TOTALS   $34,338 $70,459 $34,177 $70,620 

  

 

 

 

    

       

This report shows the current Temporarily Restricted Net Assets (TRNA) carried on WLS's books.  
Anytime monies are received from a donor or grant where there are conditions placed on how the 
funds should be spent, they are considered restricted and are tracked on this schedule.  Carrying 
a balance of TRNA from one year to the next is normal and can be driven by various factors, 
including but not limited to: 

• Multi-year grant in which funds need to be carried over 
• Grant received for a future period 
• Monies received and spent within the year 
• Monies unspent from a previous period 
• Ongoing fundraising 

Because of these factors, no set dollar amount can be an “ideal” balance to be carried from one 
year to the next.  However, the goal is to carry over only that which is necessary to meet the 
restrictions of the funds and to spend the funds in a timely and responsible manner in accordance 
with the purpose for which they were initially received. 

History of TRNA balance as of 12/31 
2019 - $239,361  - 2020 - $264,015 - 2021 - $314,375 
2022 - $423,228 - 2023 - $212,210 - 2024 - $34,338 

 



Westchester Library System   Info Item #1 (03/25/25) 

 

 

 

 

Item: Resolution to Authorize NYCLASS Account 

 

Background: Westchester Library System (WLS) currently participates in the 

New York State Liquid Asset Fund (NYLAF) as an approved 

depository. NYLAF is an investment cooperative exclusive to 

schools, libraries, and municipalities within New York. PMA 

administers NYLAF. 

 

 There is a similar investment cooperative, called NYCLASS, 

which is administered by Public Trust. 

 

Status: PMA recently announced that it has acquired Public Trust and as 

of July 1, 2025, will be eliminating the NYLAF investment pool in 

favor of NYCLASS. The two cooperatives operate in similar 

structures and are overseen by member boards from participating 

agencies. 

 

To continue participation in NYCLASS, WLS is required to pass 

the attached resolution. 

 

Recommended  

Action: Management will recommend that the Board approve and adopt 

the attached resolution at the April 29, 2025, meeting. 

 

 



Municipal Cooperation Resolution 

 

WHEREAS, New York General Municipal Law, Article 5-G, Section 119-o 

(Section 119-o) empowers municipal corporations [defined in Article 5-G, Section 119-n 

to include school districts, boards of cooperative educational services, counties, cities, 

towns and villages, and districts] to enter into, amend, cancel, and terminate agreements 

for the performance among themselves (or one for the other) of their respective functions, 

powers, and duties on a cooperative or contract basis; 

 

WHEREAS the Westchester Library System wishes to invest portions of its 

available investment funds in cooperation with other corporations and/or districts 

pursuant to the NYCLASS Municipal Cooperation Agreement Amended and Restated as 

of August 1, 2023; 

 

WHEREAS the Westchester Library System wishes to satisfy the safety and 

liquidity 

needs of their funds; 

 

Now, therefore, it is hereby resolved as follows: 

That Terry L. Kirchner, Executive Director of Westchester Library System, is 

hereby authorized to participate in the NYCLASS program under the terms of the 

NYCLASS Municipal Cooperation Agreement Amended and Restated as of August 1, 

2023. 

 



Westchester Library System  Action Item #1 (03/25/25) 
 

 

Item: WLS System Annual Report to New York State for 2024 

 

 

 

Background: All public libraries and library systems that receive funding from the State of 

New York are responsible for submitting an annual report on the operational and 

financial activities.  

Status: The State’s Annual Report format for Systems mirrors the Annual Report for the 

member libraries. While WLS does have similar functions, many of our services 

are quite different, and this annual report is cash-based and not accrual-based. 

The numbers given may be reflected in different categories and not always tied to 

what is seen on monthly WLS financial reports shared at the board meetings.   

 

Recommended  

Action: Approval of the 2024 WLS Annual Report for submission to the Division of 

Library Development of the State Education Department. 

 



HIGHLIGHTS FROM THE 2024 WLS SYSTEM ANNUAL REPORT 

 

Item  2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Physical Item Circulation  4,663 4,864 4,125   3,867   2,426   1,831  

Electronic Content Use  11,168 6,490 12,535   2,549   1,549   7,653  

 
System Holdings: 

   
    

     Electronic Books  33,794 32,317 132,096   120,928   109,701   23,766  

     Audiobooks-Downloadable  4,408 4,158 34,457   27,607   22,787   23,766  

     Video-Downloadable  1,767 1,441 2,218   834   148   153  

     Other Electronic Materials (Magazines)  5,729 5,383 4,428   3,943   -     -    

     Physical Books  255 129 121   87   90   51  

     Audio-Physical Units  11 11 10   110   -     -    

        

# of Title in ILS Bibliographic Database  939,223 939,276 946,655   942,421   958,424   941,692  

# of New Titles Added by the System  40,521 43,514 41,372   35,473   30,119   41,120  

# of Holdings in the WLS Union Catalog  3,275,663 3,271,726 3,371,237   3,457,166   3,541,271   3,613,744  

# of Holding Added to the WLS Union Catalog  211,905 236,619 251,926   212,243   177,479   153,185  

        

Total ILL Activity  8,059 10,370 11,428   7,214   2,799   8,089  

        

# of Continuing Ed/Staff Dev. Sessions  881 346 234   205   100   272  

# of Continuing Ed/Staff Dev Participants  1,618 1,671 1,758   2,052   1,538   2,840  

        

# of Consulting & Tech. Assistance Contacts  6,787 6,887 5,226   1,638   6,687   7,057  

        

# of Items Moved by WLS Delivery Service   1,511,159 1,503,479 1,456,124   1,442,878   1,089,630   1,887,130  

        

Total Visits to System Website  1,632,092 902,867 605,639   642,287   753,227   1,095,582 













































































































































































































































 

 

 

WLS Executive Director Report  

March 25, 2025 
 

 

WLS Strategic Initiatives 

 
 

 
 
Promoting equity and access 
 

 
 

 
 
Expand Community/Member Library/Partner Engagement 
 

 
 

 
 
Update and Improve Our Infrastructure 

 

 

New York State and Federal Funding Updates 

The New York State Senate and Assembly released their one house bills with proposed funding 

allocations for the FY2025-2026 budget.  

 

 Executive 

Budget 

Proposal 

Senate One 

House Proposal 

Assembly One 

House Proposal 

New York 

Library Assoc. 

(NYLA) Ask 

Library 

Operating Aid 

$104.6M $109.6M $107.1M $176.8M 

Public Library 

Construction Aid 

$34M $68M $54M $175M 

School Library 

Materials Aid 

$6.25/pupil $11.50/pupil $11.33/pupil $11.33/pupil 

NOVELny $3M $3M $3.25M $3.1M 

 

At this point the FY2025-2026 funding from New York State looks promising, but we need to 

continue advocating for this funding until the final budget is approved. 

 



 
 
 

   

 

On March 14, 2025, President Donald Trump signed an Executive Order advancing elimination 

of the Institute of Museum and Library Services (IMLS). It is still not clear if the IMLS funding 

that supports State Libraries has been cut or delayed. NYLA has initiated an email/phone call 

campaign to our congressional representatives encouraging them to advocate for the continued 

funding of IMLS supported services and programs. More information about the NYLA 

advocacy, budgetary, and policy/legislative initiatives can be found on the NYLA website at 

https://www.nyla.org.  

 

       
    

 

Cataloging Services  

The WLS catalogers perform original (“from scratch”) cataloging when a bibliographic record is 

not available from the OCLC WorldCat database or supplied by vendors. Without bibliographic 

records to represent them in the catalog, items held by the member libraries would be invisible to 

the public. Here are some recent examples of original cataloging: 

 

Never Give Up on a Kid: the Chronicles of the Life and Career of Emilio "Dee" 

DaBramo, Educator/Humanitarian Extraordinaire / by David E. Hennessy ; [foreword 

by Dr. Richard Keelor]  

This biography covers DaBramo’s heroism in World War II, his role as a 

groundbreaking teacher and administrator in Mamaroneck and his early 

involvement with the Special Olympics. 

(Cataloged for Mamaroneck Public Library by Cataloger Jenna Caccavale) 

 

Cold Spring, NY & Its Surrounding Areas / photographs by Alissa & Will Malnati 

This is a collection of more than 50 black and white photographs which depict the 

people, architecture, and beautiful natural surroundings of the Putnam County 

town. 

(Cataloged for the Warner Library by Part-time Cataloger Steven Pisani) 

 

The Ultimate Blues Collection 

This is a CD compilation of songs performed by great artists such as Muddy 

Waters, Elmore James, John Lee Hooker, Mitty Collier, Little Milton and others. 

(Cataloged for Yonkers Public Library by Director of Cataloging Services 

Douglas Wray) 

 

Mr. Wray also cataloged an assortment of “library of things” objects for Croton Free Library: a 

car code reader and battery tester; an air quality monitor; a stud finder; and an electricity usage 

monitor. 

 

WLS Cataloging Services acts as a liaison between the member libraries and their vendors. 

Recently, Mr. Wray worked with Ingram Library Services to help establish a pathway for MARC 

records representing titles ordered by Chappaqua Library. With crucial assistance from WLS 

Junior Network/Help Desk Administrator Michael Petrocelli, Mr. Wray resolved a technical 

issue which was preventing the delivery of Baker & Taylor MARC records representing titles 

ordered by Port Chester-Rye Brook Public Library. 

https://www.nyla.org/


 
 
 

   

 

 

WLS has a policy regarding immigration-related subject headings in the shared online catalog. 

For several years, the headings “Illegal aliens” and “Illegal immigration” have been changed to 

“Noncitizens” and “Unauthorized immigration.” This includes all permutations, e.g., “Noncitizen 

children--Education (Secondary)--Arizona--Phoenix” or “Unauthorized immigration--

Government policy--United States.” Because this is a local rule, the catalog must be periodically 

checked for bibliographic records which have been provided by vendors or downloaded from the 

OCLC WorldCat database. In the past month, Mr. Wray found and edited four subject headings. 

 

In early March, Mr. Wray finished cataloging Greenburgh Public Library’s Spoken Arts 

Collection, the mid-20th century recordings originally produced and published by New 

Rochelle’s Spoken Arts company and digitized in the 2000’s onto 289 CD audiobooks by Yale 

University. The entire collection required original cataloging. 

 

       
 

 

 

Information Technology (IT) 

Expanding and strengthening security protocols while maintaining a positive user experience is 

an ongoing focus of the IT department. Currently, the IT team is working on a network design 

rebuild at each WLS-hosted library location. In addition, the IT team is beginning to implement 

reputation-based website security on the networks of the WLS-hosted libraries. 

 

The implementation of the reputation-based security services will occur in stages. As part of this 

launch , IT staff are working closely with several libraries to identify and gather additional 

information about the websites routinely used by staff in these locations. The IT staff will 

conduct tests on these frequently used websites to determine the potential impact of reputation-

based security on the library staff members’ work environment.  

 

From a security perspective, reputation-based security will add a dynamic security feature to the 

network environment. The reputation ranking of a particular website changes based on the  

activities that occur on that website, and therefore any malicious activity is automatically 

detected without requiring IT staff to take manual action. Reputation rankings will allow for real-

time responses to potential security threats, while still providing opportunities for users (in this 

case, library staff) to evaluate access to a website that might have been tagged as a potential 

security threat. The goal is not to block access to sites, but rather to foster greater awareness and 

understanding of the potential security threats associated with a website. 

 

WLS uses EZProxy to help patrons  access to e-resources without the hassle of remembering 

multiple passwords and usernames. EZproxy remotely connects users to the e-resources they 

need using their existing single sign-on credentials. It also uses a robust and customizable set of 

security rules to detect and disable compromised single sign-on credentials before the credentials 

can be used to exploit any systems or data, protecting users and the WLS network from security 

threats.  The Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency’s Cyber Assessment has flagged 

the local version of EZproxy as a potential security weakness. and WLS will transition from the 

local version of EZproxy to the hosted version later this month. 



 
 
 

   

 

 

As noted in the Service Level Agreements (SLA) with the libraries, a SLA Core Security 

Standard confirmation letter is required from all libraries that do not have WLS-hosted networks 

and devices but have staff access to the ILS/online catalog and the patron database. This letter 

confirms that the library is adhering to the cybersecurity standards and best practices as outlined 

in the SLA. This is an important step in maintaining the overall security and protection of patron 

and bibliographic data in the ILS/online catalog. 

 

       
 

 

Outreach Services 
 

Expanding Outreach: Mental Health, Wellness, and Reentry Support 
 

The Westchester Library System continues to expand its outreach efforts to better serve 

traditionally underserved populations.  Current areas of emphasis include mental health, 

wellness, and reentry support. 

 

Westchester Breathes 

Westchester Breathes continues to foster resilience among communities across the county by 

leading classes and workshops on breathing practices that reduce stress, increase focus, and 

promote well-being. Led by Outreach Team Member 

Elena Falcone since 2020, Westchester Breathes has 

offered in-person and Zoom programming that 

engages library patrons from throughout the library 

system (31 Westchester libraries represented in our 

current registration).  Additionally, the programming 

has been a feature of community programming and 

staff wellness events among Westchester non-profits, 

which have given WLS new opportunities to feature 

library services.  With a focus on accessibility, first-quarter program partners have included The 

Arc Westchester (serving individuals with developmental disabilities as well as their families), 

and the White Plains Youth Bureau’s Great Potentials Program (serving middle school and high 

school students).  Ms. Falcone has also launched a small-group mentoring program for four new 

Westchester-based Breath-Body-Mind (BBM) teachers; their success and partnership will allow 

us to more fully respond to the ongoing demand for these services. First quarter programming to 

date has included more than 22 well-attended events. 

 

 

Reentry Services 

As part of our ongoing partnerships with the Westchester County Department of Corrections 

(WCDOC), the Westchester County Reentry Task Force, and the County Jail, WLS has been 

asked to provide curated information for residents who would like to learn more about maternal 

health, neonatal care, and childcare resources. This content will be hosted on the in-facility 

tablets where WLS already has modules providing information about our Job Search, High 

School Equivalency, and Reentry Information services. WLS has also been invited to provide 

materials and an  information table for the upcoming Women’s History Month celebration on 



 
 
 

   

 

March 25th. The opportunity to provide more tablet content has once again opened the dialogue 

to get more WLS electronic resources into the hands of WCDOC residents. 

 

 

Meeting with Regan House Residents 

The Outreach team conducted a group presentation for residents at Sister 

Anne Mary Regan Residence in Port Chester. As an arm of St. Joseph’s 

Medical Center’s chemical dependency programs, Regan House provides 

comprehensive services to short-term residents. The bulk of the round-

circle discussion revolved around the evolution of library services, and the 

types of services and resources residents could expect from public libraries 

in Westchester- including WLS outreach services. Regan House staff were 

left with a supply of temporary library cards for immediate access to 

eResources, and we will be working with Regan House to establish stronger connections with the 

Port Chester-Rye Brook Library. 

 

 

Essential Online Health Information for Older Adults 

A second update of the Essential Online Health Information for Older 

Adults guide is in the works.  Originally published in 2019, the guide offers 

a list of selected resources that address typical health concerns, such as how 

to research a health topic, find and compare health services, and manage 

health insurance. Spurred by a grant from the National Library of Medicine 

(NLM), the guide was launched as part of a series of county-wide programs 

held at libraries and community centers.  The initial run of 1,000 ran out 

quickly and we've been reprinting and updating ever since - all of which is 

maintained online at SeniorLawDay.info.  Thanks to a partnership with the 

Yonkers Public Library's Alan Houston, Coordinator of Services for 

Special Populations, this latest update is a team effort that includes 

contributions from first year medical students participating in the Albert 

Einstein College of Medicine’s Service-Learning Program. Publication and 

a new round of programming to be announced in June. 

 

 

Canned Food Drive 

In addition to our wellness initiatives, WLS partnered with United Way of Westchester & 

Putnam, Feeding Westchester, Mid-Hudson Library System for the 

2nd Annual Community Canned Food Drive, which collected 2,200 

pounds of food for local families. Libraries played a key role in this 

effort, serving as donation drop-off sites to support the fight against 

food insecurity. Participating Libraries included Chappaqua Library, 

Greenburgh Public Library, Harrison Public Library, West Harrison 

Branch Library, Hastings-on-Hudson Public Library, Hendrick 

Hudson Free Library (Montrose), John C. Hart Memorial Library 

(Yorktown), Lewisboro Library, Mamaroneck Public Library 

District, Mount Kisco Public Library, Mount Pleasant Public 

Library, Port Chester-Rye Brook Public Library, Pound Ridge 

Library, Somers Library, The Field Library, Town of Pelham, Tuckahoe Public Library, White 

Plains Public Library and Westchester Library System. 

 



 
 
 

   

 

       
 

 

Small Business and Workforce Development 
 

The deployment of the Small Business Resources website and BlueCareer (on-line skilled-trades 

career exploration and planning tool) is progressing well. These new resources support economic 

growth and jobs and are located on the WLS website and available to our member libraries. 

Overall, the initial feedback regarding these small business and workforce resources is positive.  

 

Recent community outreach activities include promoting the small business website and 

BlueCareer to key Westchester community organizations. As a starting point, the WLS staff and 

member libraries have been briefed on the new resources. WLS will attend business and 

workforce-related table events in the upcoming weeks which will increase awareness and 

promote use of the tools. Program brochures and table event flyers have been revised to include 

QR codes which will allow ease of use when engaging attendees at small business and workforce 

events. WLS participated in the launch meeting for a Nonprofit Westchester Small Non-Profit 

Affinity Group. This offered WLS an opportunity to raise awareness of our small business 

resources that can benefit small nonprofit organizations. 

 

The small business website has been used to assist with several inquiries about small business-

related issues. For example, information on how to become a minority and women owned 

business (MWBE), reasons for a woman owned business application not to be approved, and 

guidance on establishing a small business website was secured using our Small Business 

Resources @ Library website. As our community engagement expands, more small businesses, 

especially in underserved communities, are expected to find support resources directly through 

the website. 

 

 

       
 

 

Strategic Data Analysis and Member Library Support 

The member libraries’ submission and WLS review of 2024 Annual Reports continue. Manager 

of Strategic Data Analysis and Member Library Support Allison Midgley has worked with 

libraries via email, phone, and on-site visits to help all but two libraries to submit their reports. 

During 2024, the NYS Division of Library Development (DLD) revised several sections of the 

Annual Report in keeping with Institute of Museums and Library Services (IMLS) requirements. 

Starting this year, libraries will report about which social media platforms they use for promotion 

and whether they collect fines or offer automatic renewal of items. Electronic resource reporting 

was simplified and focuses on formats – eBook, serials, audio, and video – which provides more 

meaningful metrics of patron use.  

 



 
 
 

   

 

Executive Director Terry Kirchner, Director of IT Wilson Arana, and Integrated Library System 

Administrator / Systems Librarian Lindsay Stratton reviewed the first version of the WLS Data 

Dashboard in mid-March. Their responses will inform goals for a second version in April, when 

it will be developed further, shared with a wider audience, and be the foundation of a database 

development plan. That documentation will serve as WLS’ guidelines for those who will 

maintain the database either in-house at WLS or outsourced to a developer. In addition, to 

address a broader goal of the project, a cycle of review by WLS and member library staff has 

been drafted to assure that there is periodic user feedback, that the dashboard stays relevant, and 

that WLS and libraries build data-driven decision-making practices. 

 

Ms. Midgley presented a WLS Digital Resources 2025 Overview webinar that was attended by 

23 WLS and library staff. A recording of the session is available for all staff to view throughout 

the year. Ms. Midgley has been working with vendor staff to schedule resource-specific webinars 

in the coming months, starting with hoopla and medici.tv. 

 

       
 

 

Trustee Handbook Book Club / Trustee Education Opportunities 

This year’s Trustee Handbook Book Club sessions have been announced. These sessions, as well 

as previously recorded sessions, count towards the required 2-hours/year of trustee education. 

 

April 30, 2025, 5:00 PM-6:30 PM – Trustee Handbook Book Club – Board 

Development: Recruitment, Orientation, Education and Evaluation  

 

July 15, 2025, 5:00 PM-6:30 PM – Trustee Handbook Book Club: Recruiting & 

Retaining Quality Staff  

 

November 18, 2025, 5:00 PM-6:30 PM – Trustee Handbook Book Club – Next Level 

Trusteeship: Building an Effective and Impactful Board Culture  

 

To register for and to learn more information about each of the 2025 sessions, go to the Trustee 

Handbook Book Club website at https://midhudson.org/trusteebookclub/. Archived recordings of 

earlier sessions are available on the Trustee Handbook Book Club Archive at 

https://midhudson.org/trustee-handbook-book-club-archive/.  

 

 

       
Respectively Submitted, 

 
 

Terry L. Kirchner, PhD. 

Executive Director 

https://midhudson.org/trusteebookclub/
https://midhudson.org/trustee-handbook-book-club-archive/



